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HISTORIC LANDMARK COMMISSION 

DECEMBER 17, 2018 

DEMOLITION AND RELOCATION PERMITS 

HDP-2018-0595 

2500 Inwood Place 

 

PROPOSAL 

Demolish part of a ca. 1951 building and construct a side addition and auxiliary dwelling unit 

(ADU). 

 

ARCHITECTURE 

Two-story, irregular-plan, flat- and shed-roofed building; wood and brick masonry siding; 

casement aluminum-sash windows.  

 

RESEARCH 

Eugene and Doris Wukasch lived at 2500 Inwood Place beginning in 1951. Eugene moved 

out around 1971, while Doris lived in the house until at least 1992. Eugene was a native 

Austinite who graduated from UT with a degree in architectural engineering. As principal 

of the firm Wukasch & Associates, he was a prolific church designer, completing more than 

70 religious buildings in Austin and around Texas between 1959 and 1969. His designs 

incorporated historical themes into a modern style and were recognized by local 

newspapers, a statewide architectural publication, and a national ecclesiastical design 

competition. Wukasch & Associates also designed fire stations, schools, master plans, 

retirement apartment buildings, and houses. Wukasch was a historic preservation advocate 

who planned Waterloo Park and Symphony Square and directed the restoration of historic 

buildings in both spaces; he also restored several local landmarks. Doris worked for the 

Wukasch architectural firm and later taught in a public school. 

 

Eugene Wukasch designed 2500 Inwood Place around 1951, before he started his own firm 

in 1953-54. At the time, he was working at Jessen Jessen Millhouse and Greeven. 

 

Several changes have been made to the building. A second-story frame addition was 

constructed at the rear around 1957, a carport at the north end was enclosed in 1974, and 

the house was divided into a duplex in 1979. The second-story addition falls within the 

historic period (50+ years). 

 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

The project includes the removal of the enclosed carport and a small portion of the west 

wall, and construction of a one-story addition with a footprint that is smaller at the front 

and expanded to the rear. The addition will be clad in brick, hardiplank lap siding, and 

hardiplank panel siding and feature aluminum-sash casement windows. It will be capped 

with a metal shed roof and have a footprint of 807 square feet. 

 

The applicant has revised the plans so that the addition is set back 2’ from the east wall of 

the existing house. The addition will be clad in brick that is similar to but differentiated 

from the existing brick cladding. 
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The ADU will be located directly north of the house, with the same setback from the street. 

It will be clad in hardiplank board and batten and panel siding and capped with a metal 

shed roof with parapet walls. It will have a footprint of 540 square feet. 

 

STAFF COMMENTS 

The building may meet the criteria for designation as a historic landmark. 

 

Designation Criteria—Historic Landmark 
1) The building is 50 years old, having been constructed around 1951. 

2) The building retains a relatively high degree of integrity. A second story was added 

in 1957, within the historic period; and a carport was enclosed in 1974. The enclosed 

carport is proposed to be removed for the current project and replaced by an 

addition. 

3) Properties must meet two historic designation criteria for landmark designation 

(City of Austin Land Development Code, Section 25-2-352). The property may 

demonstrate significance according to two criteria: architecture and historical 

association. 

a. Architecture. The house was designed in the Mid-century Modern style by 

Eugene Wukasch and appears to possess architectural distinction. Its strong 

rooflines, clean massing, deep eaves, and mix of brick and wood cladding are 

characteristic of Wukasch’s contemporary residential and ecclesiastical 

designs, which sought to bridge traditional and modern architectural 

elements in an functional, livable form. Its L-shaped plan and shed roof 

appear to be unique among his house designs that were constructed. 

b. Historical association. Eugene and Doris Wukasch lived in the house from 

1951 until approximately 1971 (Eugene) and at least 1992 (Doris). Wukasch 

was a prominent architect in Texas who earned early fame with modern 

church designs. His firm, Wukasch & Associates, grew to design a range of 

property types, including retirement communities, master plans, and historic 

restorations. Wukasch lived in the house for 20 years, and there appear to be 

significant historical associations. 

c. Archaeology. The property was not evaluated for its potential to yield 

significant data concerning the human history or prehistory of the region. 

d. Community value. The property does not appear to have a unique location, 

physical characteristic, or significant feature that contributes to the 

character, image, or cultural identity of the city, a neighborhood, or a 

particular group. 

e. Landscape feature. The property is not a significant natural or designed 

landscape with artistic, aesthetic, cultural, or historical value to the city. 

 

The proposed project removes the enclosed carport, a feature that has been substantially 

altered. The addition is designed in a sensitive style and is one story. The revised plans set 

the addition back from the most prominent wall of the existing house and differentiate the 

new brick cladding on the east wall from the original construction. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the revised plans, which retain the building’s eligibility for historic zoning, subject 

to completion of a City of Austin Documentation Package, consisting of photographs of all 

elevations, a dimensioned sketch plan, and a narrative history, for archiving at the Austin 

History Center. 
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LOCATION MAP 
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PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Photos 

 
East façade of 2500 Inwood Place. 
 

 
Detail of primary entrance. 
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East façade and north elevation, with the carport proposed for removal in the foreground. 
 

 
Detail of enclosed carport. 
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West elevation. 
 
 

Occupancy History 

Completed by Historic Preservation Office staff 

October 2018 

 

1949 Address not listed 

 

1952-68 J. Eugene and Doris L. Wukasch, owners 

 Draftsman, Jessen Jessen Millhouse and Greeven (1952); architect and engineer, 

2000 Guadalupe Street (1959-1968) 

 Linda C. Wukasch, renter (1968 only) 

 Student 

 

1973-77 Mrs. Doris L. Wukasch, owner 

 Teacher, public school 

 Susan E. Wukasch (1973, 1977) 

 No occupation listed 

 Jean E. Wukasch (1973 only) 

 No occupation listed 

 Johnathan E. Wukasch (1977 only) 

 Student 

1986 M. S. Kosub 

 No occupation listed 

 

1992 Doris Wukasch, owner 

 No occupation listed 
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Background Research 

Joe Eugene Wukasch was born in 1921 in Texas to Joe and Alma Wukasch, who ran a 

grocery store at 2000 Guadalupe Street. Eugene attended Austin High School and the 

University of Texas, graduating with a degree in architectural engineering. He briefly 

worked at Lockheed Aircraft as an engineering draftsman, then joined the Navy in 1944. 

After he left the Navy, he worked as a draftsman at Jessen Jessen Millhouse and Greeven 

for two years. In 1953 or 1954, he opened his own architectural firm, Wukasch & 

Associates, in the former location of his family’s grocery store. 

 

Wukasch is best known for his church designs, which are described beginning on p. 16. 

However, this description begins with an examination of his early residential designs to 

provide context for the house at 2500 Inwood Place. 

 

Some of Wukasch & Associates’s earliest projects were homes designed in the Mid-century 

Modern style for middle-class families. The Restful House (5001 Westfield Drive) was 

designed by DeWoody & Wukasch and built by contractor C. Ben Hibbetts around 1953. 

The house “combined in its appearance much of what is good in America’s past architecture 

with a feel of the contemporary... Uninhibited living in a restful atmosphere, no longer 

bound by Victorian formalism” wrote Wukasch or a colleague in a contemporary 

description. Materials used in the house were intended to be durable and easily 

maintained, with a natural appearance. The house was oriented to capture prevailing 

breezes and boasted a modern heating system. 

 

The expected price of the 1,450-square-foot Restful House was $16,000, with a middle-class 

family the purchaser. Inhabitants would include a male breadwinner, housewife, and 

children. The house’s design was focused on function and ease of use. The kitchen was close 

to the parking area for grocery unloading, while broad eaves offered a sheltered place for 

the family to get into or out of the car. The master bedroom was located far from the living 

areas, while the secondary bedrooms were divided by a sliding partition that could be 

opened to create a larger “activities room” or bedroom-den combination. “As the family goes 

through various stages of expansion and changes… this area is readily adaptable to meet 

the immediate needs,” explained the description. Built-in features and storage areas sought 

to make both household duties and recreation as convenient as possible (and could be 

covered by the home loan and home insurance, the description pointed out). 

 

 
The Restful House advertisement, ca. 1953. The south and east (rear) elevations are shown. (Source: 
Wukasch & Associates files, Austin History Center) 
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Color sketch, ca. 1953. The south and east (rear) elevations are shown. (Source: Wukasch & 
Associates files, Austin History Center) 

 

 
South elevation, n.d. (Source: Wukasch & Associates files, Austin History Center) 

 

 
South elevation, 5001 Westfield Drive. The carport shown in the plans and illustrations above was 
filled in at an unknown date. (Source: Google Maps, 2018) 
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West elevation, n.d. (Source: Wukasch & Associates files, Austin History Center) 

 

 
West façade. (Source: Google Maps, 2018) 

 

Wukasch designed 2 of the 22 houses in the Air Conditioned Village, one with Hibbetts and 

one with contractor Frank C. Barron. The Air Conditioned Village was sponsored by the 

National Association of Home Builders, who wanted to showcase—and test—the effects of 

central air on happiness and health. Houses also included broad overhangs, new types of 

insulation and ventilation, and strategic window placement for energy efficiency. 

 

With Hibbetts, Wukasch designed the Lauderdale House (6601 Nasco Drive) around 1954 

in the Air Conditioned Village. Built at a cost of $12,000, the house form was a simple 

rectangle, with a combined living-dining space and an open breezeway connecting the house 

to an enclosed garage. 

 

 
Lauderdale house sketch, 6601 Nasco Drive, 1954. The building was designed with an enclosed 
garage that was not constructed; the breezeway connecting the house and carport was either 
enclosed or not constructed as designed. (Source: Wukasch & Associates files, Austin History Center) 
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Lauderdale house. (Source: Google Maps, 2018) 

 

 
Lauderdale house plan. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History Center) 
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Homes under construction, April 1954; the Lauderdale house is at the very right. (Source: Dewey G. 
Mears photograph, Portal to Texas History) 

 

 
Contemporary article on Lauderdale house. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History 
Center) 
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Wukasch’s other house in the Air Conditioned Village was built by Frank C. Barron at 2503 

Park View Drive and first occupied by Mr. and Mrs. William White. The house was built at 

a cost of $14,000 and designed in a simple rectangular plan, similar to the Lauderdale 

house just around the corner. However, instead of a detached garage, this house featured a 

prominently located front carport that was faced with white stone and covered by a 

sweeping shed roof. 

 

 
White house, 2503 Park View Drive. (Source: Google Maps, 2018) 

 

 
White house, elevation of primary façade. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History 
Center) 

 

 
White house, floor plan. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History Center) 
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Street view of an Air Conditioned Village, June 1954; the White house is in the center. (Source: 
Dewey G. Mears photograph, Portal to Texas History) 

 

 

 
Contemporary article on White house. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History Center) 
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Likely around the same time, Wukasch proposed a design for Frank C. Barron’s own home 

on Turnabout Terrace. The house does not appear to have been constructed, as the design is 

filed under “Unbuilt Residence Studies” in the Wukasch & Associates archives. The house’s 

floor plan is notably similar to the plan of 2500 Inwood Place, with wings that 

counterbalance each other in an L-shaped plan, an entrance near the juncture, and a 

garage to the side. 

 

 
Barron house, sketch of primary façade, n.d. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History 
Center) 

 

 
Barron house floor plan, n.d. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History Center) 
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Blueprint for 2500 Inwood Place, dated January 20, 1951. Source: Property owners. 

 

After the mid-1950s, new single-family homes were rare. Girard Kinney worked at 

Wukasch & Associates for two periods in the 1960s and 1970s. He recalled a heavy 

workload of commissions from churches and Air Force bases, which would have been more 

profitable than residential designs. In addition to designs, Wukasch & Associates also 

handled engineering in house for non-residential projects, making those commissions even 

more attractive. At the same time, other architects in Austin were better known for 

residential designs and would have posed stiff competition for residential work. 

 

The few houses that Wukasch & Associates did design after the 1950s could be eclectically 

designed. A weekend lake house (ca. 1962) Wukasch designed for photographer Bill Malone 

had a traditional cabin design at Malone’s request, with generous front and back porches. 

The Ragin house (ca. 1969) and Goodman house (ca. 1970) were both designed in a more 

contemporary style, with irregular or T-shaped plans and integrated garage. The Tieman 

house (ca. 1978) northwest of Austin prioritized cost, simplicity, and preservation of the 

natural site; and proposed to take “liberties with design” such as combining the kitchen and 

bath areas in the house’s small footprint. Two houses in 1980 were constructed as dome-

shaped “Earth Houses,” also called “The Eighties Self Sufficient House” I and II. Invoices 

from the mid-1960s show that Wukasch & Associates designed at least one speculative 

house for the construction firm of Hilders, Bauerle, and Black, but no drawings were 

located. Unless noted here, it is not clear which houses were principally designed by 

Wukasch and which by his associates.  
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Malone house. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History Center) 

 

 
Section of the Eighties Self Sufficient House I. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, Austin History 
Center) 
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Elevation and floor plan of the Eighties Self Sufficient House II. (Source: Wukasch & Associates file, 
Austin History Center) 

 

As noted earlier, Wukasch is primarily renowned as a prolific church designer, completing 

more than 70 religious building designs between 1959 and 1969. The Austin American 

noted his “statewide reputation in church design” and “sensitive blending of the traditional 

with warm simplicity.” Wukasch himself spoke about the need to “build something modern 

but keep alive the spirit of our heritage.” He incorporated historical forms into 

contemporary design and materials for congregations such as Prince of Peace Lutheran 

Church, which was awarded honorable mention in a national ecclesiastical design 

competition in 1957 and featured on the cover of Texas Architect in 1958; Windsor Park 

Presbyterian (now Austin Mennonite), heralded as “one of the most attractive and uniquely 

designed Presbyterian churches in Austin”; First Presbyterian Church; and many more in 

Austin and around the state. Wukasch also participated in a national conversation about 

churches’ changing needs: he served on the board of the American Society for Church 

Architecture, attended conferences and seminars on religious design, and wrote about 

church design for religious periodicals. 

 

Though best known for ecclesiastical design, especially in the 1960s, Wukasch’s firm grew 

to design a range of buildings across Texas: public buildings, fire stations, schools, and 

master plans. The firm completed some residential additions and renovations, along with 

“pre-letting” inspections of nearly completed homes as the owner’s representative. 

 

Wukasch invented a new design for clay masonry units that could be used as solar screens 

for high-reflectivity buildings, and worked with the Teague Brick Company to manufacture 

and distribute them around Texas, New Orleans, and Detroit. 

 

In the 1960s, Wukasch became more involved in design for aging, including nursing homes, 

and served as chairman of the Austin Adult Services Council. His design for the 

Westminister [or Westminster] Manor retirement home was hailed as “a whole new look in 

retirement living” by The Austin American. 

 

A historic preservation advocate, Wukasch was deeply committed to the Travis County 

Historical Commission. He and Raymond McClure planned Waterloo Park in 1975, a 

project that included moving the historic Hardeman House into the park and restoring it. 
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Wukasch also planned Symphony Square in the 1970s, including the adaptive reuse of the 

Jeremiah Hamilton Building as a concert venue. Wukasch led the restoration of the Hannig 

Building (206 E. 6th Street), Daniel H. Caswell House (1404 West Avenue), and Morley 

Building (209 E. 6th Street) and advocated for the preservation of the Nueces County 

Courthouse. 

 

Wukasch was married twice, first to Doris Stork and later to Anita Brewer Howard. He 

died in Austin in 2001. 
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Prince of Peace Lutheran Church (1955) 
Photos: Jason John Paul Haskins, via Flickr 

 

     
Windsor Park Presbyterian Church (1960) 
Photos: Jason John Paul Haskins, via Flickr 
 

     
Immanuel Lutheran Church, Giddings (1960-61) 
Photos: Jeremy Clifton, lonestarbackroads.com 
 

     
Gethsemane Lutheran Church (ca. 1963) 
Photos: Jason John Paul Haskins, via Flickr 
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Westminster Manor       Fire Station No. 18 (1961) 
Photos: Google Street View 
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Austin American Statesman, 6/7/1978. 
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Doris Lucille Wukasch (nee Stork) was born in 1924 in Somerville, Texas. She attended 

Austin High School and the University of Texas. After graduation, she worked as a 

laboratory technician at the Texas State Department of Health. She married Eugene 

Wukasch in 1945 and moved to Corpus Christi, where he was stationed. Between 1954 and 

1966, she worked as executive secretary for Wukasch Architects and Engineers. She and 

Eugene Wukasch had four children; their marriage was dissolved in 1971. 

 

Doris earned a Master of Education from UT in 1969 and taught math in the Austin 

Independent School District between 1970 and 1985, then taught in Papua New Guinea for 

a year in 1986 with Wycliffe Bible Translators. Doris Wukasch died in 2005. 
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Marriage announcement (text and photo), Austin American, 7/8/1945. 
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Doris Wukasch obituary, Austin American-Statesman, 3/20/2005. 

 

 

Building Permits and Maps 

 
Water tap permit issued to Eugene Wukasch, 3/6/1951. 
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Sewer connection permit issued to Eugene Wukasch, 3/6/1951. 

 

 
Building permit issued to Eugene Wukasch for a wood-frame 2nd-story rear addition, 8/5/1957. 
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1962 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map. In this view, the entire building appears to be a single story, with 
a carport at the north end. 
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Building permit issued to Doris Wukasch to remodel existing house and enclose C. P. [carport], 
8/7/1974. 
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Building permit issued to Doris Wukasch to remodel the house to create a duplex, 6/8/1979. 
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Wastewater service permit issued to A. A. Auger, 9/14/1979. 


